047

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,823
(Third DCA Case #90-1626,
90-2861, and 91-783)

Petitioners,

Vs.

INDEPENDENT FIRE INSURANCE
COMPANY,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 80,823
(Third DCA Case #90-1626,
90-2861, and 91-783)

FILED

JUN 14 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

#### AMENDED PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FERRELL, CARDENAS, FERTEL & MORALES, P.A.
201 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 371-8585

FRIEND & FLECK
5975 Sunset Drive, Suite 802
South Miami, FL 33143
(305) 667-5777

and

EVAN J. LANGBEIN, ESQ. 1125 Alfred I. duPont Bldg. Miami, Florida 33131-1294 (305) 374-0544

Attorneys for Petitioners

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A. The unrefuted terms of the fee contract

Richard A. Friend, Esq., testified his firm was hired late in 1986 or early 1987 upon an oral contingent fee agreement which exclusively contemplated a court awarded attorney's fees (T 1474-1475):

"I had told Mr. and Mrs. Lugassy on a few occasions ... from the beginning of the time that I met with them, until the trial, that if we won the case we would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Respondent acknowledged the legal services rendered on the coverage claim and defense of the counterclaim involved "the very same arson" and were inseparable (T 1304). Petitioners contended below, therefore, that the "cap" did not apply, citing <u>Peacock Construction Corp. v. Gould</u>, 351 So.2d 394 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). See p. 11, infra.

be then entitled ... when I say 'we' I mean the attorneys would be entitled ... to a court-awarded fee and that the court would base that fee on the amount of time the court thought was reasonably spent and whatever rate the court felt was appropriate and the difficult factor (sic), and that that would be what we would be looking for in terms of our compensation in the case."

Mr. Friend affirmed "that was the understanding I had with the clients from the outset" (T 1475), and his testimony confirms this understanding "was consistent throughout" his firm's representation in the case (T 1483).

Mr. Friend performed most of the labor in the trial court (T 1447-1458) and substantial labor in the appeals. A lawyer since 1975, Mr. Friend testified, "This was far and [away] the most demanding lawsuit I have ever been involved in ..." (T 1446, 1473). The case precluded other work, was "very fact intensive," and his "companion ... siamese twin..." for three years (T 1451, 1473).

After the verdict a letter was prepared memorializing the attorneys' fee agreement reached when Friend and Fleck first appeared (T 1678). That oral contingency fee agreement was "to allow for recovery of a court-awarded reasonable fee "...in lieu of the percentage fees..." (Ibid).

During the Section 627.428 attorneys' fee litigation, Respondent obtained Mr. Ferrell's former 1986 "Authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>When Friend & Fleck appeared, the nature of the case had just dramatically changed and new counsel was "concerned" with "getting up to speed" and not with a written memorial of compensation (T 1480-1481).

to Represent" document (R 557-559). Respondent sought to infer from that document a permanent percentage "cap" on fees for all legal services, trial and appellate, notwithstanding the uncontroverted later oral contingency fee agreement (T 1474-1475, 1483; R 560). Respondent's claimed interpretation of the 1986 document violated the intentions of the parties to that former agreement and the custom then prevailing for such legal representation (T 1625-1627, 1673-1675).

The 1986 Authority to Represent was drawn by Murray Sams, Esq., and Mr. Ferrell (T 1581). The document was intended to preserve the separate, full entitlement to the recovery of Section 627.428 attorney's fees without that award being limited by the co-existing contingency percentages in that document. (T 1625-1627, 1674). While drawn without the guidance of the much later 1990 opinions of this Court [see, e.g., Kaufman v. McDonald, 557 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1990)], that understanding of the parties, if not their fully integrated written manifestation in the agreement, was clear. (Ibid).

A paragraph (e) was included in the document to allow these two contingent fee components. The provision of the paragraph (e) component was intended to recognize the separate unlimited entitlement to a court-awarded reasonable fee under 627.428 to which a limitation might otherwise be inferred from the percentage fee component (T 1674).

Mr. Sams testified (T 1625-1627):

It was our clear understanding that the amount we received from the insurance carrier would not be ... that we were not limiting the amount we could receive from

the insurance carrier by entering into a contingency fee agreement with our client.

Mr. Sams stated he had relied upon the same dual component agreement in Federal Court "where the court awarded more money than the contingent fee [percentage]," validating this usage (T 1630; see also T 1628-1629).

The intended relationship between the "two components" was a "credit" of court awarded fees to the clients' obligation for a percentage fee. The clients were assured the full retention of sums awarded by the jury if the court awarded fee exceeded the percentage fee. Messrs. Ferrell and Sams testified in that event the attorneys would receive the full fee award (T 1625-1627; 1673-1674; 1691-1693). If the statutory reasonable fee award were less than the percentage fee, Petitioners would then be "credited" in the amount of the reasonable statutory fee award, and obligated to pay Ferrell the difference (T 1674).

Without such a contemplation, Mr. Sams testified, "there's no lawyer in the United States" who will handle an insurance claim since the monetary recovery may be small in relation to services ultimately devoted to insurance litigation (T 1623).

#### B. The trial court's reasonable fee determination

Adhering to the fee objectives of the original agreement, the later oral modification and the legislative criteria, the trial court found that "[t]he agreement today is that the court is allowed to award a reasonable fee..." (T

1434). The trial court observed "...the intention of the parties is unrefuted and uncontradicted..." (T 1700-1701).

The trial court's factual determination that the oral contingency fee agreement superseded the initial 1986 Authority to Represent, obviated judicial labor to harmonize the terms of the earlier document. The trial court recognized that its determination of a reasonable fee was not "capped" by the oral agreement which simply stipulated to securing the reasonable compensation due a prevailing insured vis-a- vis Section 627.428.

Two experienced and reputable trial lawyers testified a reasonable fee for Petitioners' counsel was between \$496,000 and \$590,000 (T 1597, 1642-1643). These experts agreed the litigation was complex, extensive, difficult and warranted contingent risk enhancement (T 1642). One expert found that the case reasonably required "massive" amounts of time performing legal work and factual investigation (T 1593, 1596). The award made by the trial court was approximately \$180,000 below the lesser figure (R 439-441).

The dollar amount of the fee "cap" proffered by Respondent (\$44,642.97) did not approach even the threshold amount of the reasonable fee proffered by Respondent's expert witness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Respondent's expert testified that in an "average case" plaintiff's counsel reasonably devotes 25-30% more than the defense (T 1558). Respondent's records revealed defense counsel devoted 579 hours of time before the jury trial even began. (T 1515-1516; 1571 DD-EE). Respondent's expert opined that Petitioners' lead counsel deserved an hourly professional (continued...)

Ultimately the trial court abided by the statutory requirement of awarding a <u>reasonable</u> attorneys' fee for Petitioners' counsel for services for the coverage claim and counterclaim, assessed "a complete reasonable fee," made appropriate findings and so rendered judgment (T 1438; 1443; R 439-441).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in disregarding the oral contingency fee agreement upheld by the trial court and entered into almost three years before the verdict. The District Court erred in overlooking that the basis for the "complete reasonable fee" adjudged by the trial court on the evidence was the equivalent of its mandate.

The decision conflicts with <u>Pendley v. Shands Teaching</u>
<u>Hospital and Clinic, Inc.</u>, 577 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)
[hereafter <u>Pendley</u>]. <u>Pendley</u> recognizes parties to a fee agreement are free to avoid a "cap," to a reasonable fee award inferred by their litigation adversary, and may clarify their agreement to conform to their intent to recover a reasonable fee (T 1443), pursuant to a legislative criteria.

The trial court's finding of "[t]he agreement today," clothed with the presumption of correctness on appeal, was

<sup>7(...</sup>continued)
rate of \$125 and co-counsel \$100 per hour (T 1562). Petitioners' experts testified that the reasonable hourly rate for Petitioners' counsel was \$175-200 (T 1595, 1641). Using the lesser of each of Respondent's figures establishes Respondent's expert's opinion of a least possible reasonable fee of \$72,375 (579 hours plus 25% = 723.75 hours x \$100 an hour), before trial and without a Rowe contingency fee enhancer.

unrebutted in the record, and should not have been disturbed by the District Court. <u>Conner v. Conner</u>, 439 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1983); <u>Isaak v. Chardon Corp.</u>, 532 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

The District Court further overlooked unrebutted evidence that the original 1986 Authority to Represent contemplated a fee award under Section 627.428, exceeding a fee determined by the co-existing percentage fee provisions (T 1625-1630, 1674).

particularly because Respondent was neither bound by nor privy to the fee contract, Respondent lacked standing or capacity to: object to parol evidence which completed and clarified the fee contract or reformed it to the parties' intent; challenge the "consideration" for a modification or reformation of the fee contract; or to prejudice the court with frivolous accusations of ethical irregularity. Pittman v. Providence Was. Ins. Co., 394 So.2d 223 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Pendley, supra; Harvard Farms, Inc. v. National Cas. Co., 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1039 (Fla. 3d DCA, April 20, 1993); Genet Co. v. Annheuser-Busch, Inc., 498 So.2d 683, 685 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Respondent has seized a forum for endless litigation of satellite issues in a "collateral proceeding" [see, Preamble to Ch. 4 of "Rules Regulating the Florida Bar"] substantially adding to the expense and longevity of this litigation. After the District Court's decision, Respondent assumed the identity of the client, demanding production of the attorneys' "entire

file ... including their work product." (See, "Amendment to Appellees' Motion for Leave to Amend Response.")

The District Court's remand to award a quantum meruit fee for all services defending the counterclaim, obviated any fee "cap," and should be recognized as mandating the award made by the trial court. The services defending the counterclaim involved the inseparable claim of arson alleged by Respondent to deny coverage, and therefore the "complete reasonable fee" (T 1443) found by the trial court for inseparable services deserves affirmance. Insurance Co. of N.A. v. Lexow, 602 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1992); Peacock Construction Co. v. Gould, 351 So.2d 394 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

The fee arrangement "cap," created by <u>Florida Patient's</u> <u>Compensation Fund v. Rowe</u>, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985), should be abrogated or clarified. This "cap" endangers, and sometimes denies, compliance with the legislative directive of reasonable statutory attorneys' fee awards.

The application of a contract fee "cap" to a contingency fee arrangement made in contemplation of a recovery of a statutory reasonable fee is an "anomaly." Since such representation is secured by, and implicitly, if not explicitly, contemplates absolute entitlement to the legislatively assured reasonable fee, a "cap" on that award to ensure the award approximates what it would be without such entitlement is circuitous. A reasonable fee, by definition presents no danger of excessiveness and may not fairly be regarded as posing a potential hardship.

Moreover, when a "cap" would impose so severe a fee award limitation to result in a <u>per se</u> inadequate award, the flexible application of the <u>Rowe</u> guidelines should be clarified to assure that the "cap" may be lifted to arrive at compliance with the legislative directive. See, <u>Goodpasture</u> v. Evans, 570 So.2d 354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Further, the "cap's" value is illusory, and its application promotes inflexible imaginary interpretations and otherwise unauthorized challenges by strangers to a fee contract (like Respondent) which may violate the intentions of the parties <u>inter se</u>.

Moreover, the "cap" has generated inferior species of contingency fee agreements which instead of <u>limiting</u> a client's liability to counsel [as expressed in <u>Rosenberg v. Levin</u>, 409 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1982), cited by <u>Rowe</u> as the support for the "cap"] paradoxically <u>enhance</u> a client's liability by exposing the client to potential liability for the greater of the court-awarded fee or a percentage fee, impairing the ability of attorney and client to contract and sacrificing the "cap" to the client's potential fee liability.

This court should validate the pre-Rowe "customary practice," articulated in <u>Inacio v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, 550 So.2d 92, 96 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), ensuring that contingent fee agreements do not disallow recovery of the greater of the statutory reasonable fee set by the court or the contingent percentage, consistent with the unassailable objective of attorney and client.

The "cap" is particularly inappropriate to contingent fee litigation involving Section 627.428, since that legislation recognized the underlying claim recovery from insurers is typically insubstantial in relation to the legal service involved. The "uncapped" legislative directive assures the ability of insureds to secure competent counsel and discourages insurers from "going to the mat" because of their superior resources. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Palma, 555 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1990); Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1990); Sonora v. Star Cas. Ins. Co., 603 So.2d 661, 664 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).

The trial court's failure to enhance the award for the fee litigation should be reversed. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.

v. Palma, 585 So.2d 329 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, Case No. 78,766, 602 So.2d 942 (Fla. 1992).

The cost judgment should be affirmed because Respondent abandoned its challenge to that judgment on appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT INCORRECTLY DISREGARD-ED THE TRIAL COURT'S RECOGNITION OF THE ORAL CONTINGENCY FEE AGREEMENT AND IM-PROPERLY RELIED UPON RESPONDENT'S APPLI-CATION AND INTERPRETATION OF A PRIOR AGREEMENT.

A. The Trial Court properly determined the applicable fee agreement.

The standard of appellate review of an award of attorneys' fees requires that the appellate court "...must accept the trial judge's conclusion or findings which resolve

factual matters as true, where there is adequate support for them in the record." Straley v. Frank, 585 So.2d 334, 347 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), Judge Sharp, dissenting, citing Conner v. Conner, 439 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1983); see also, Sierra v. Sierra, 505 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1987).

The trial court determined that Petitioners' counsel had an oral contingency fee agreement in effect since the law firm of Friend & Fleck appeared, almost three years before the verdict and later memorialized in writing (T 1434-1435).

The oral agreement provided simply for the attorneys' contingent compensation in the reasonable amount assessed by the trial court pursuant to Section 627.428 (T 1474-1475, 1483). The trial court accepted that understanding as "uncontradicted" and as posing no stumbling block to the legislative requirement to award a "complete reasonable fee" (T 1443).

The courts of our state properly recognize the validity of oral contingency fee agreements for entitlement to fee awards as to third parties. <a href="Dept. of Adm. v. Ganson">Dept. of Adm. v. Ganson</a>, 566 So.2d 791 (Fla. 1990) (Ganson II); Ganson v. Dept. of Adm., 554 So.2d 522, 528-29 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (Ganson I); Isaak v. Chardan Corp., 532 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Harvard Farms, Inc. v. National Cas. Co., 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1039 (Fla. 3d DCA, April 20, 1993).

Respondent argued below that the oral contingency fee agreement was unethical and therefore should be disregarded in deference to its interpretation of the original fee

contract prepared before Friend & Fleck was retained (T 1442-1445). Respondent sought to argue that percentage fee provisions in the original fee agreement "capped" the compensation allowable so that the trial court was powerless to award reasonable compensation.

Respondent thus continued its "no holds barred, go-to-the-mat" defense into this fee litigation. Without evidentiary support, Respondent accused Petitioners and counsel in the District Court of "back-dating" the written memorial of the oral contingency fee agreement so as to smear the credibility of the underlying agreement.

The original opinion of the District Court, filed August 11, 1992, evinces that Court was persuaded by Respondent's false imputation of misconduct. The District Court's original opinion, contrary to the record, declared that Friend & Fleck had "[n]o retainer agreement..." (reiterated that erroneous conclusion in its final opinion) while deleting the original opinion's acceptance of Respondent's claim of "backdating."

The erroneous conclusion that Friend & Fleck had no fee agreement leaves the extension of a fee award "cap" to that firm, from the Ferrell contract, without a basis. Moreover, even that finding supports the reasonable fee awarded by the trial court.

The District Court was misled by Respondent's misuse of Mr. Ferrell's testimony concerning the absence of a written agreement, when Friend and Fleck was retained (T 1677-1678).

Mr. Ferrell testified the absence of "any writing" was one reason the November 22, 1989, letter was prepared (<u>Ibid</u>.) Respondent employed this testimony to falsely assert that "...[n]o retainer agreement was entered into" (Respondent's Brief in the District Court, p.5).

In fact, Mr. Ferrell's testimony was that Petitioners "well knew, Mr. Friend was representing them..." contemplating recovery of court-awarded fees (T 1677-1678) consistent with Mr. Friend's testimony of the oral contingency fee agreement. Respondent also claimed below that the "oral" nature of the Friend & Fleck contract fee agreement was improper and therefore invalid (T 1442-1445).

Most recently, the District Court refused such standing to assert complaints of supposed ethical irregularity as a smokescreen to escape responsibility for a full reasonable fee award. Harvard Farms, Inc. v. National Cas. Co., supra.

Farms, supra, concerned itself with an attack on the ethics of an undocumented oral contingency fee agreement between the attorney and client. Unlike this case, the District Court reversed the trial court's refusal to consider contingent risk enhancement, relying on this Court's Ganson II decision and this Court's rulemaking power in the Preamble to Ch. 4 of the "Rules of Professional Conduct" of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar [18 Fla. L. Weekly D1039]:

Violation of a rule should not give rise to a cause of action nor should it create any presumption that a legal duty has been breached. The rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and to provide a structure for regulating conduct through disciplinary agencies. They are not designed to be a basis for civil liability. Furthermore, the purpose of the rules can be subverted when they are invoked by opposing parties as procedural weapons. The fact that a rule is a just basis for a lawyer's self-assessment, or for sanctioning a lawyer under the administration of a disciplinary authority, does not imply that an antagonist in a collateral proceeding or transaction has standing to seek enforcement of the rule. Accordingly, nothing in the rules should be deemed to augment any substantive legal duty of lawyers or the extra-disciplinary consequences of violating such duty.

The District Court said [18 Fla. L. Weekly D1040]:

...[T]he Supreme Court in deciding <u>Ganson II</u> did not overlook and fail to apply its own rule; instead, out of respect to the purpose of the rule, it recognized that it had no applicability when setting a [reasonable] fee. (Citations omitted.)

In <u>Inacio v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, 550 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) the court affirmed the propriety of later memorializing in writing an earlier oral change in terms of representation to reflect the intention of attorney and client to recover attorneys' fees under Section 627.428, unencumbered by a previous percentage fee agreement.8

The District Court characterized Friend & Fleck as "additional counsel," and found that "the parties' original agreement ... " (to which Friend & Fleck was not a party)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The <u>Inacio</u> decision was published shortly before the confirmatory addendum involved here and was one of the factors prompting its preparation (T 1680-1681).

"...did not authorize a higher fee..." for the "law firm's" services, except for the counterclaim.

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