## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,823

JACQUES LUGASSY and DEBRA LUGASSY, \*
Petitioners \*
vs. \*
INDEPENDENT FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, \*
Respondent \*
\*

# RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ARTHUR J. MORBURGER Attorney for Respondent Penthouse I 155 South Miami Avenue Miami, Florida 33130 Tel. No. (305) 374-3373

ALVIN N. WEINSTEIN WEINSTEIN, BAVLY & MOON, P. A. Attorney for Respondent Suite 920 Biscayne Building 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Tel. No. (305) 377-3042

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since this Court's exercise of conflict jurisdiction calls up for review the merits of the appeal, the issues as presented in the court below will be discussed seriatim.

The Third District correctly held that the over-\$300,000 attorneys fee awarded in favor of the Lugassys and against Independent far exceeds and violates the 45% contingency fee cap of \$44,642.97 established by the Authority to Represent.

In addition to the fee stipulated in the Authority to Represent for litigating the Lugassys' claims for policy benefits, no attorneys fee was awardable against Independent for plaintiffs' attorneys' services rendered in defending the counterclaim.

That is so first because, contrary to the Third District's view, it was within the contemplation of Ferrell when he undertook to prosecute the Lugassys' claims that the policy rendered Independent a subrogee standing in the shoes of the mortgagee and that, in asserting its arson defense, it could assert an arson counterclaim as subrogee. Secondly, virtually no extra services were performed in the defense of the counterclaim that were not relevant to the prosecution of the Lugassys' claims.

Even if some fees were awardable for any such "extra" services, nevertheless, the limitation of such fees to quantum meruit would have been proper. That form of fee, not on a contingency basis, could not give rise to a contingency risk multiplier such as was erroneously applied to all fees by the trial court.

While attorney Friend was not a party to the Authority to

Represent and had entered into no agreement with the Lugassys, he was a party with Ferrell's firm to an oral agreement to share in the contingency fee or court award to which Ferrell was entitled under the Authority to Represent. If that arrangement was valid, then of course the Authority to Represent's fee cap also applied to that arrangement. If that arrangement was invalid, then Friend would be entitled to no fee -- or alternatively to quantum meruit but in an amount not violative of the 45% contingency fee cap.

The November 22, 1989 letter did not alter this analysis.

It would have been beyond the power of the Lugassys and their attorneys, without the consent of Independent, without any consideration, and while the jury was deliberating its verdict, to free the court awarded fee from the contingency fee cap retrospectively with regard to the legal service theretofore already performed.

Nor did that November 22 letter, drafted by plaintiffs' own attorneys, explicate, or even suggest any intent to abrogate, the contingency fee cap. In any event, that letter was not even signed by Friend.

Moreover, no fees are awardable for legal services rendered in litigating the issue of the amount of fee where as here Independent conceded that 45% of the recovery was the proper amount and the insured's net recovery would therefore not have been enhanced by that litigation. The trial court's award of fees for just such services was therefore also erroneous.

In like manner, the Third District erred by granting the Lugassys <u>appellate</u> attorney's fees for litigating the fee issue.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. <u>DOES THIS COURT'S EXERCISE OF CONFLICT JURISDICTION OPEN</u> FOR REVIEW THE SAME ISSUES PROPERLY BEFORE THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON APPEAL?

When this Court exercises its decisional conflict jurisdiction, it "proceed[s] to consider the entire cause on the merits." So held <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977) [quoting <u>Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad Co.</u>, 130 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961)]. That <u>Bould</u> continues to be viable after the 1980 amendment to Art. V, § 3, Fla. Const. is evidenced by this Court's more recent citation to <u>Bould</u> in support of its holding that its jurisdiction was not limited just to answering the question certified to it in <u>Freund v. State</u>, 520 So.2d 556, 557 n. 2 (Fla. 1988). Accordingly, the issues will be discussed as they were presented for review in the Third District Court of Appeal.

II. DID THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY RULE THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS FEES FAR IN EXCESS OF 45% OF THE JUDGMENT WHERE THE ORIGINAL RETAINER AGREEMENT SET AS A CAP 45% OF THE JUDGMENT, WHERE THAT AGREEMENT WAS PURPORTEDLY MODIFIED ONLY AFTER THE VERDICT WAS RETURNED, AND WHERE THAT MODIFICATION WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY CONSIDERATION, WAS WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT, AND IN ANY EVENT FAILED EVEN TO MENTION THE SAID CAP?

### A. <u>DID THE "AUTHORITY TO REPRESENT" CAP THE FEE?</u>

The Third District correctly ruled that the 45% contingency fee cap established by the last clause of  $\P$  (e) of the original retainer agreement bars any greater recovery (R 551). The trial court's \$300,000 fee award far exceeds 45% of the \$99,206.60 judgment on the merits (R 317). Already fully surveyed at pages 9 and 10, <u>supra</u>, are the trial court's oral rulings that the wording of the last clause of  $\P$  (e) is free of any ambiguity, "very clear," and sets the 45% contingency fee as the upper limit on the amount of the fee that plaintiffs may be awarded by the court. That clause's following wording could not be any clearer:

"In the event any attorneys' fees are recovered by MILTON M. FERRELL, JR. against Independent Fire Insurance Co. ... the total fee due MILTON M. FERRELL, JR. shall not exceed that specified by paragraph (d) above."

That wording is rendered doubly dispositive in the light of the fact that it was drafted by Ferrell's "of-counsel" associate (T 1577-1584) who was no mere run-of-the-mill attorney -- the draftsman was attorney Murray Sams who by his own admission had drafted hundreds of contingency-fee retainer agreements (T 1631, lines 6-8). Indeed, in 1986, when he drafted that agreement, he had the benefit of the then-already-one-year-old clarion clear ruling of this Court in <u>Florida Patients' Compensation Fund v. Rowe</u>, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985) that a fee cap in the agreement sets an upper limit on a court-ordered fee award. <u>Miami Children's Hospital v. Tamayo</u>, 529 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1988) held that the fee cap applies even to an agreement that predated the <u>Rowe</u> decision. <u>See</u> also like holding in <u>Lane v. Head</u>, 566 So.2d 508, 512 (Fla. 1990).<sup>16</sup>

It is moreover axiomatic that any fancied contractual ambiguity must be construed against the party whose draftsman chose the words. It would have been a simple matter to word the agreement so as to clearly communicate an intent to set no contractual upper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> There is therefore a singularly hollow ring to the Lugassys' plaint (at p. 6 of their brief) that, when the agreement was drafted, they did not have the benefit of the decision in Kaufman v. McDonald, 557 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1990), approving certain contractual language, not included in the Lugassys' agreement, that modified that cap.

limit on the amount that the court may award as was done in <u>Kaufman</u> <u>v. McDonald</u>, 557 So.2d 572. <u>Orlando Regional Medical Center, Inc.</u> <u>v. Chmielewski</u>, 573 So.2d 876 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (fee greater than stipulated 45% contingency could be assessed only if agreement contains following "three little words" -- that attorney will be entitled to a reasonable court-awarded fee even "**if greater than**" the contingency).<sup>17</sup>

In <u>Standard Guaranty Insurance Co. v. Quanstrom</u>, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1990), the Florida Supreme Court reiterated the rule announced in <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe</u>, 472 So.2d 1145, 1151 (Fla. 1985) that "in no case should the court-awarded fee exceed the fee agreement reached by the attorney and his client."<sup>18</sup>

<sup>17</sup>The Lugassys' alternative argument, at pages 24-26 of their Brief, that the agreement should be treated as though it were "reformed" and that Independent Fire would not be a proper party to any such reformation is likewise specious. Amazingly, the Lugassys cite Milford v. Metropolitan Dade County, 430 So.2d 951 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) in support of that argument. Footnote 3 to that opinion acknowledges that, while it may not be necessary to commence a new action to acquire "jurisdiction" to entertain a reformation, nonetheless, either "consent" or "some appropriate procedural device" is required. The record below is devoid of any such device or of any attempted exercise of any such jurisdiction. To the contrary, the lower court specifically advised the parties that, if they wish to "reform" the initial retainer agreement, they will have to file "a petition for reformation." (T 1700-1702) The Lugassys never bothered to file any such petition. Such a petition would have named as parties not only Independent Fire but also the Lugassys' attorneys. At the present time, not even are those attorneys parties in the court below. Neither Milford nor Alexander v. Kirkham, 365 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) nor any other cited case would allow any such unilateral reformation either at the trial level or, as the Lugassys now propose, at the appellate level.

<sup>18</sup> This same rule was cited and applied in International Bankers Insurance Co. v. Wegenor, 548 So.2d 683 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), <u>dismissed</u>, 557 So.2d 868, <u>rev. dismissed</u>, 558 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1990); State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Johnson, 547 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); and Escalanti v. Dopico, 545 So.2d 496 (Fla. 3d DCA

The only exception recognized by Quanstrom, 555 So.2d at 833 is in the context of a "category 1" "public policy enforcement case." Plaintiffs' instant claims do not fall into that category. Indeed, in the trial court, plaintiffs' counsel Langbein himself conceded that their claims fall under category 2. (T 1613, lines 22-23)<sup>19</sup> That dispositive concession was in any event compelled because these are "contract" claims -- in this case on a fire insurance policy -- and as such fall into Quanstrom's second category, limited by the cap set in the retainer agreement. The fact that the right to the award of fees is created by statute (and is therefore an expression of a public policy of the State of Florida) does not transform that claim from a category 2 claim to a category 1 claim. E.g. <u>Rowe</u>, 472 So.2d 1145 (§ 768.56, Fla. Stat.); <u>Tamayo</u>, 529 So.2d 667 (same); Lane v. Head, 566 So.2d 508 [§ 607.147(5), Fla. Stat.]; World Service Life Insurance Co. v. Bodiford, 537 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 1989) [§ 627.428, Fla. Stat.].

At page 39 of Petitioners' brief, the Lugassys further argue that <u>Rowe</u>'s fee cap should be abrogated. In support of that attack, they cite a Fourth District panel's comments in <u>Ziontz v. Ocean</u> <u>Trial Unit Owners Ass'n, Inc.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1146 (Fla. 4th DCA Opinion filed May 5, 1993). Ironically, <u>Ziontz</u>' comments were rather directed at certain Bar members' proclivity to seek excessive fees. That criticism strongly reinforces the need for the cap

1989).

<sup>19</sup> That trial court concession forecloses the Lugassys' attempt to argue now before this Court that their claims fall under category 1. The point was not preserved for appellate review. as at least a partial brake upon runaway fees. <u>Ziontz</u> is therefore singularly inappropriate as any manner of support for the Lugassys' instant plea for exemption from <u>Rowe</u>'s cap to enable them to claim fees astronomically exceeding that cap.

The Lugassys alternatively argue, at page 38 of their brief, that, in category 2 cases, the cap should be made subject to the trial court's discretion in applying a rule of reasonableness. That argument was not made either at the trial court level or at the appellate level, is without precedent, and flies in the face of the doctrine of <u>stare decisis</u>. <u>See</u>, <u>e. g.</u>, <u>In re Seaton's Estate</u>, 154 Fla. 446, 18 So.2d 20 (1944), applying that doctrine. This Court has spoken authoritatively on the subject of the fee cap both very recently and very often. In category 2 cases, that cap has consistently been reaffirmed.<sup>20</sup> In support of their argument, the Lugassys misleadingly cite <u>Goodpaster v. Evans</u>, 570 So.2d 354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) as an example of a case in which the contingency fee agreement's 45% cap was rejected in favor of a reasonable fee of \$10,000. In that case, the verdict was in the amount of \$60,000 so that the 45% cap would have equalled \$27,000, far in excess of the

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  In passing, note should be taken that § 627.428, Fla. Stat. entitles the insured, not the insured's attorney, to a fee award. See Florida Trial Lawyers' amicus brief, at page 8, citing Fortune Insurance Co. v. Gollie, 576 So.2d 796, 797 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), <u>rev. denied</u>, 589 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1991); <u>but see</u> Brown v. Vermont Mutual Insurance Co., 614 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Under that statute, the insured is entitled only to be made whole -- to recover back the amount of fees he has paid or is obligated to pay, to the extent they are reasonable, and nothing more. Category 1 cases stand as an exception to that logic only because of special public policy considerations, not present in the case at bar.

\$10,000 fee award.<sup>21</sup>

The Lugassys' next specious argument, at pages 38-39 of their brief, is that <u>Quanstrom</u>, 555 So.2d at 831 and 834 somehow abrogates <u>Rowe</u>'s cap, as it applies to the lodestar. To the contrary, <u>Quanstrom</u>, at 831, faithfully reports that under <u>Rowe</u> there were two caps, the one discussed hereinabove and the other limiting the contingency risk multiplier range from 1.5 to 3.0, and at 834 reaffirms that "[t]he caps discussed in <u>Rowe</u> and explained in this opinion remain applicable in" category 2 claims -- subject only to the reduction of the "3.0" multiplier to 2.5.

B. WHERE ATTORNEYS FERRELL AND FRIEND ORALLY AGREED TO SHARE THE FEE UNDER THE AUTHORITY TO REPRESENT, WHERE FERRELL TESTIFIED THAT FRIEND ENTERED INTO NO AGREEMENT WITH THE LUGASSYS BEFORE THE JURY RETIRED AND FRIEND TESTIFIED THAT HE ENTERED INTO AN ORAL CONTINGENCY AGREEMENT WITH THE LUGASSYS, COULD THE LUGASSYS CLAIM ANY FEES FOR FRI-END'S SERVICES OVER AND ABOVE THE AUTHORITY TO REPRE-SENT'S FEE CAP?

This analysis is not altered by the fact that Friend, not one of the original parties to the Authority to Represent, performed legal services in prosecuting the Lugassys' claims as Ferrell's cocounsel up to and through the trial. In that regard, Respondent's prefatory Statement of the Case and Facts points out that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The parade of horribles postulated by Petitioners and by the amicus is fanciful. Under <u>Rowe</u>, insurance litigation has flourished unabated. There is no danger that <u>Rowe</u>'s cap will somehow frighten the intrepid "Plaintiffs' Bar" into contrition. Especially in the light of <u>Ziontz</u>'s comments, there is no reason to fear that plaintiffs' lawyers will short-change themselves in their fee negotiations or that they will shy away from insurance litigation because of any such fear. They are fully protected by the body of case law allowing retainer agreements to be so drafted -- unlike the draftsmanship of the Authority to Represent in the case at bar -- as to provide for a percentage contingency or a court-awarded fee, whichever is greater.

Lugassys themselves introduced into evidence their attorney Ferrell's testimony that that Friend & Fleck had entered into an agreement with Ferrell, Williams to divide the fees specified under the capped written retainer agreement in one third and two thirds proportions. (T 1694, lines 8-17). In other words, Friend's involvement in the case was via Ferrell's retainer agreement and was therefore governed by that agreement. The Lugassys are bound by their own evidence. <u>McNeill v. Jack</u>, 83 So.2d 704, 706 (Fla. 1955) (party is bound by his own evidence).

That binding evidence did however not stop there. It was the Lugassys who presented the additional testimony of Ferrell

(a) that "there had never been an agreement with Mr. Friend nor with my firm that was agreed to by the clients, or any writing between Mr. Friend and I, for that matter, but certainly nothing with the client." (T 1677, lines 13-16; T 1694, lines 18-22);

(b) that no attention was paid to the retainer agreement at any time before trial; for the first time in the course of trial, the absence of any agreement between the Lugassys and those other attorneys came to the latters' attention (T 1677, lines 4-16);

(c) that the post-verdict letter was a "modification." (T1676-1677; pp. 7-8, <u>supra</u>).

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